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Prologue



Ukraine, 2014


Sleeping is difficult in the safe house. The tired and dilapidated décor is uncomfortably juxtaposed with a tension heightened by the intermittent sound of nearby gunfire in Odessa’s city centre.


The best I can do is doze. Thoughts are racing through my head about whether the deal would actually be completed, whether I would stay alive. Not necessarily in that order.


Daylight begins to break through the tattered curtains. Suddenly, a monstrously imposing man bursts into my room, bristling with aggression.


‘He’s dead because of you!’ he cries. ‘Give me your fucking phone, get dressed and get outside. Now!’


I have been accused of many things during my career, but never before of colluding to murder the associate of a potential business partner. But this was where my work had taken me – the middle of a battlefield in Odessa, a port city unable to escape the violence and bloodshed endemic throughout Ukraine amid escalating hostility with Russia.


Except, on a battlefield, you know where the enemy is. This was a city alien to me, with anyone we encountered a potential friend or foe. A person we did business with could be a mediator or a murderer. I had come as the former but been labelled the latter.


This is a covert war fought with a randomness of target and location that puts everybody permanently on edge. Eyes dart in all directions when you enter a room, analysing the threat level before them. Suspicion abounds.


It was a terrifying backdrop against which to do business. Trust felt like an expired, almost naïve concept. Two days earlier, we had barely been in the country an hour before two people were killed within earshot. Part of me felt we should never have got involved or perhaps should have undertaken more research on the prospective clients beforehand, but reliable information is often scarce in a region like this.


An ownership group in Odessa had approached Italian agent Roberto De Fanti – who had until January of that year been Director of Football at Sunderland – to express an interest in buying Sheffield Wednesday. Roberto had become a respected acquaintance of ours through previous dealings and we had strong links to Wednesday’s then owner Milan Mandaric through my friend and associate Peter Storrie. Milan and Peter worked together at Portsmouth. The financial implosion of that club and a separate court case, in which both stood trial on two counts of tax evasion, meant their futures in the game were uncertain until their acquittals in 2012.


I had taken Peter on as a consultant because I respected his experience, contacts and numerical ability. He remained close with Milan, who had bought Wednesday in 2010 but was keen to sell four years later because he felt the club had reached a natural point in its evolution where a new, younger owner would be better suited.


My personal interest in making this deal happen deepened due to a longstanding friendship with Lord Sebastian Coe, who grew up in Sheffield and has an affinity with Wednesday despite his widely known allegiance to Chelsea. He often joked to me that if I ever helped sell the club, he would perhaps consider becoming chairman. Seb even offered to speak to José Mourinho to see if he might be interested. At the time, that was not as fanciful as it may sound because José was without a club and open to suggestion.


Roberto told me this investment group had owned teams in Ukraine but were keen to buy an English club. The concern was that they actually wanted to get some of their cash – wherever it had come from – out of Ukraine and thought a football club in the UK would be a good, safe home for it. As they had experience in owning clubs, they wanted to find a team with a potential real-estate play and they saw Sheffield Wednesday as having that capacity.


Calls were going backwards and forwards and I had to decide whether it was worth the risk to travel. They would not come to the United Kingdom; we had to go to them.


Thirty years of completing transactions all over the world has enabled me to build up a network of protection I can call on if required, but I didn’t really know anyone in Ukraine. The country was burning at the time and, if trouble broke out within the deal or around us, I had no idea where the exits were; any agent will tell you to determine your exit strategy before entering any negotiation.


I had spoken to Richard Creitzman, who was working on Roman Abramovich’s team when they bought Chelsea. Richard had been one of the passengers on the notorious helicopter flight over London in 2003, in which – so the story goes – the Abramovich team was about to complete the purchase of Chelsea, when they flew past Fulham’s Craven Cottage. The ground was being redeveloped at the time with Fulham playing at Loftus Road. The grass had grown out to a foot high in places and, in tandem with the beginnings of stadium renovation work, Fulham’s charming home looked unusually ramshackle.


Richard pointed towards the shabby sight before them. ‘That’s Chelsea down there,’ he said.


Roman’s eyes widened in disbelief.


‘Only joking – that’s really Fulham,’ Richard said.


‘Don’t joke,’ Roman said in that steely manner of his.


Richard was established as one of the working directors at Chelsea and so he and I became quite friendly over the years. He ultimately left Roman and went back to Moscow but remained my only link to the region. I called him to ask what would happen if it all went horribly wrong out there.


He said, ‘It’s OK. Odessa is a major port with a unique population and “style” all of its own. It is famous across the former Soviet Union as a city where the laws are liberally interpreted and a lot of criminal activity allegedly occurs. A number of local and Russian businessmen work and operate there so, if you go, be careful. I’d be happy to organise some security if required.’


It was a risk but one I felt was worth taking. A few months earlier, I had negotiated the sale of Leyton Orient from Barry Hearn to Francesco Becchetti. Selling football clubs seemed like a good line of work so the chance to pull together a deal for Wednesday felt too good to pass up.


Another incident hinted at the Odessa group’s credibility. A consultant of mine had spoken to them three weeks before about facilitating a deal to take a well-known player from a Premier League club into a prominent Ukrainian club. The fee was to be in the region of six million euros with a net wage of four million euros a year. Three million would be paid up front and a further one million six months later. The structure of those payments was strange but, during the course of negotiations, my consultant spoke of their range of connections which included several leading figures in the world of football. The deal eventually fell through because the Odessa group dragged their heels and the player lost interest but, on balance, there had been enough to suggest that a meeting over Sheffield Wednesday was worthwhile.


In the weeks before we arrived, violence had flared up badly in Ukraine. Malaysia Airlines flight MH17 from Amsterdam had been shot down in rebel-held territory close to the border with Russia. All 298 people on board had died, with Russia and Ukraine each blaming the other. Fighting continued with Russian military incursions into Ukraine growing ever greater.


Odessa was not incident-free but had been relatively calm by comparison, so we made the judgement call to proceed. Peter, Roberto and I embarked upon the 1,424-mile trip east from London on the morning of Monday 25 August.


It is at this point in the story that I need to make a confession. The names of our contacts in Odessa have been changed for my ongoing safety and that of my associates. They are not individuals I am comfortable naming publicly, even now.


The guy who met us at the airport – let’s call him Fabian – was like a family man on acid. He claimed to have strong legal links to one of the bigger clubs in Spain, and spoke in a high-paced stream of consciousness with no filter. Most of it was utter nonsense but the relentless rambling still acted as an unnerving soundtrack to our journey.


We were whisked in the back of a people-mover with Fabian, a driver and a bodyguard to the stadium and it was nothing short of majestic. The dressing rooms were akin to the opulence of a five-star hotel. No expense had been spared. After a guided tour, we were taken to our hotel. The people-mover stopped two hundred yards away with traffic gridlocked in front of us. There was a commotion up ahead. People began scattering.


Fabian and the bodyguard got out, walked down the road and tried to find out what was happening. I got out to stretch my legs but, as I did so, Fabian came running back towards the car shouting that two people had been shot dead in the lobby of our hotel. The bodyguard reached across and grabbed me with such force that I felt momentarily winded. He propelled me back into the car. People were running past the windows with terrified looks on their faces. Cars were mounting the pavement to escape the mayhem.


‘We have to go – you can’t stay here,’ said the bodyguard. ‘We are going to take you to a safe house.’


My mind was a blur. Did that really just happen? Fortunately, we had pulled up by an alleyway leading away from the tumult ahead. The driver quickly manoeuvred the car down this tight, single-lane road with barely an inch to spare on either side of the vehicle. I remember thinking he seemed to be a rather adept getaway driver, which was useful now, but the origin of his talent didn’t bear thinking about.


The car hurtled from one road to the next along the backstreets of Odessa. Fabian was jabbering away a mile a minute about how ‘this is just what happens here’ and ‘everything is fine – you have the IRA, don’t you? That’s the same . . . ’ Not quite.


The world felt like it was closing in on us. My clothes stuck to me as the car’s air conditioning failed, enhancing the claustrophobia. Our bodyguard turned his head to face us in the back. ‘Phones. Now!’ he growled.


By now we start to think we’re being kidnapped. We feel confused and scared.


‘People track us,’ he continued. ‘We don’t want people to know where we are because of your phones.’


In all the years I have completed deals everywhere from Swaziland to several countries that were once behind the Iron Curtain, nothing like this had ever happened to me. Fabian told us this was protocol and my consultant, who had spoken to them about us previously, told us he had had to surrender his mobile, too, so there was some comfort in that consistency, but still it felt like naïvely acquiescing to anonymity.


We eventually arrived at what they described as a safe house, at the end of a cul-de-sac. At the top of the short lane, they parked the people-mover across the road with two men either side, standing guard. It was an open prison; we were trapped. I didn’t know if that was a good or bad thing.


The house was barren. My bed had springs sticking out of it. There was no food, not even a glass of water. I did have a balcony but I wasn’t overly keen to go outside.


After a while, temptation got the better of me and I stepped out on to the ledge. I peered down to the end of the road and a guard shot a look straight up at me with eyes that seemed to question the temerity of my decision to breathe the same air. Back inside I went.


Roberto, Peter and I kept ourselves calm by rationalising the situation as best we could. People back in England knew we were here. What could they get for injuring us? Was it a crime syndicate in the Ukraine planning to ask our families for money?


A long hour passed. They told us there would be a delay in meeting the investment group’s chief – Dimitri seems an appropriate name to take from Ukraine’s past – because eight people had been killed during a nearby march in the city. I closed the curtains, as if that would make us more secure.


Another couple of hours went by and eventually we were bundled back into the people-mover and taken on a circuitous route out of the city to a meeting point where Dimitri was waiting. We were not allowed to take our bags. That journey was tortuous as it was impossible to keep track of our bearings. We had no phones, no belongings, but at least there was no ransom demand. Not yet, anyway.


We arrived at a disused, broken-down factory, a place that had fallen into a derelict state after years of neglect. I could feel my heart racing. Around the back of the factory was a corridor leading to another out-building, behind which was a door. We were shown in and suddenly the surroundings were rather more grandiose. Carpets! I remembered those. There were golden statues, opulent light-fittings . . . it felt like a scene from Alice in Wonderland compared to what we’d experienced before.


There were no windows. A man, Dimitri, was sitting on what could have passed for a throne. He was in his thirties, about 5ft 9in tall and fit as a butcher’s dog. He was on his mobile, deep in conversation, while next to him sat a very attractive, voluptuous woman in her early thirties, clearly not afraid to display her assets. We were sitting in silence on the other side of a desk barely four feet away.


He finished his call and, at the end of an exasperating pause, he turned his stony face towards me and simply said, ‘Hello.’


I thought I might as well take the lead. ‘Hi, I’m Jon. This is Peter and Roberto,’ I said tentatively, gesturing towards each in turn.


‘I know you are Jon,’ replied Dimitri, with no warmth at all. ‘I also know about the consultant you sent here three weeks ago. He was bad.’ Dimitri accused him of lying throughout the deal and bad-mouthing his family. This was the first I had heard of any of it – I didn’t believe a word.


The atmosphere in the room was nasty. Normally there is chit-chat at the start of a deal – it is convivial because everybody wants to do business and make some money. It is fluffy, light. This was anything but.


He was sitting directly opposite me and talked about my colleague in the most disparaging terms. I told him I was not aware of those accusations until now, but I had to hold my ground because I needed to elicit some respect from him. I had to defend my position while admitting that what had happened here in Odessa was not under my control. I was quickly realising just how apposite that statement was.


I tried to make light of the situation, maintaining eye contact so as not to appear intimidated, and act in a conciliatory manner, accompanying my words with a smile at regular intervals.


Dimitri shuffled some papers in front of him. I had to double-take at the rearranged pile. There was now a revolver visible on the desk, pointing directly at me. Roberto breathed in sharply, involuntarily yet audible to everyone in the room.


Peter leant into my ear and whispered, ‘I’m pleased I didn’t sit in that seat.’


I said to Dimitri, ‘Is it possible you could point that the other way?’


Dimitri smiled. It was the first time he had done so and it felt like a minor breakthrough.


I continued to explain that my company, First Artist, had a longstanding reputation for being a professional enterprise that pioneered football agency work in the UK and that we had come here to help facilitate their intention to buy a football club. He probably knew all that anyway but I had to establish some semblance of authority. The gun was still lying on the desk, but the conversations we had come all this way to have had, at least, now finally started.


My idea for Sheffield Wednesday was partly born from discussions with Seb Coe, who had agreed with me that the authorities could potentially respond favourably to relocating the club away from Hillsborough. He even indicated that he would speak to local MP Richard Caborn, former Minister for Sport and Labour MP for Sheffield Central, to test the validity of that theory. Given the tragedy that occurred there in 1989, a prospective owner could instigate a move without many of the tribal problems that exist whenever a football club leaves its spiritual home. There is usually a powerful and positive emotional legacy left behind, but I didn’t think that that would be the case with Hillsborough because so many people had died there in such awful circumstances.


The city would potentially help offset the cost, too. The Don Valley Stadium was built for the 1991 World Student Games, but thereafter cost the council millions of pounds while falling into a state of disrepair. A potential new owner, then, could take this wonderful brand and move it to a new state-of-the-art venue, while simultaneously turning Hillsborough into a property development to help fund the overall project.


But, importantly, at the core of this transaction must be a tasteful memorial to the 96 football fans who lost their lives in 1989 and, if we managed to convince the council that the whole development would be big enough, then there should be the means to give an apartment to every bereaved family. As long as it was marked with respect, I didn’t think supporters would have an insurmountable sadness at leaving Hillsborough, a view shared by Seb under those circumstances.


Dimitri nodded in approval as I laid out the proposal. The relationship was warming now, even to the extent that he decided to move the gun. It disappeared under the table, perhaps still pointing at me for all I knew, but I was willing to interpret that as progress.


Milan was due to arrive at this point and, just as I was about to ask Peter discreetly where he was, right on cue he walked in. Conversations progressed well, opening out into general football chat, which was completely meaningless but it had the welcome effect of defusing the tension.


Soon, it was approaching 11.30 p.m. We hadn’t eaten anything since the plane and now Dimitri decided it was dinner time. We all headed back into the city and arrived at a deserted hotel restaurant. We were frisked upon entering – which was disconcerting in itself – but the issue of security afforded us an opportunity to ask for our phones back. I immediately phoned my wife Janine. Normally we would speak a few times a day when I’m abroad, so I was at least able to make contact and allay the worst of her fears.


A lengthy dinner ensued and talk turned to politics. I mentioned Ukraine president Petro Poroshenko, who took office a couple of months earlier in June. The mere use of his name launched a 90-minute diatribe about how Poroshenko was the most abhorrent politician ever to walk the Earth. It was a litany of name-calling and hopeful prophecies of his imminent assassination. The vitriol was unrelenting but at least the death threats were aimed at someone other than us. The Ukrainians clearly worked closely with the Russians in some capacity – I wasn’t sure I wanted to know how – and heralded Vladimir Putin as an exemplary leader.


Dinner ended on good terms, although with a strict requirement for us to be up and ready at 7 a.m. that morning to continue discussions.


At around 2.30 a.m., we arrived back at the safe house. Roberto, Peter and I threw our aching limbs on the mercy of a couple of rickety pieces of furniture, which looked every bit as world-weary as I felt.


‘What do we think then – is this for real?’ I asked.


Roberto was upbeat despite our qualms as to why this syndicate seemed so concerned by gangsters in the city. But, they had a lot of cash to make a deal of this size happen. I had my doubts as to whether they would pass the Football League’s ‘fit and proper person’s test’ for new owners, so some checks would need to be done here.


Despite the trauma of the day, it felt as though something positive could yet come out of all this. Of course, the security detail kept us under constant watch, but my head hit the synthetic pillow containing more optimistic thoughts than seemed possible earlier in the day.


* * *


The burly bodyguards duly arrived at 7 a.m., thudding on the door in uncompromising fashion. Bleary-eyed, the three of us stumbled into a gloriously bright morning and then the people-mover. We arrived at a luxurious country club to continue talks in a picturesque location under a large parasol sheltering us from the heat and now, believe it or not, a deal started to be done.


Milan’s price and payment structure was received promisingly enough. The total figure was thirty million pounds with 50 per cent paid on completion and then the rest in two further instalments over the subsequent twelve months, which made sense.


It was a productive day, certainly compared with the previous one. At 2p.m., we asked to be allowed to phone home. Our requests were granted, and I rang Janine again just to touch base, but I felt it would be easier on her not to know the full extent of the uncertainty that still engulfed us.


Peter took longer than the five minutes agreed and suddenly the atmosphere turned fraught once again. The bodyguard began shouting, ‘Give me the fucking phone, now!’ evidently ready to take Peter’s wrist along with his Blackberry should he not have complied.


They took us to see the training facilities of a team they claimed to co-own. Again, I’d rather not name which one. We met the coach and several of the backroom staff. The façade of each building was dated and unloved but, once inside, the rooms were beautifully finished to a very high specification; this display of largesse was clearly for Milan’s benefit, to exemplify the investment they would make in Sheffield Wednesday’s infrastructure.


It went on for hours and hours. Eventually, Dimitri broke the monotony. ‘Tonight, we are going to have a party!’ he declared. None of us felt in a particularly celebratory mood given the endless tension that surrounded the entire trip. Having said that, at least nobody had died that day. Via a short trip to what they described as their headquarters – a dank, small office in the city centre – for some minor paperwork, we were driven again to another apparently disused building, but the bleak first impression again gave way to what was nothing short of a fantasy land.


A sprawling swimming pool benefited from the addition of spiralling slides and a zip wire suspended across the water. Beautiful women were liberally scattered around all sides of the pool, while indoors the palatial corridors led to a variety of grandiose rooms containing anything from sumptuous restaurants to handcrafted Russian snooker tables.


We were told to get changed into robes for ‘health and safety reasons’. I had no idea why, but it became clear later when Peter had his wallet pinched, including about £300 in cash, presumably by one of the girls.


‘These girls are here for your pleasure,’ said Dimitri.


Cavorting with crazy Ukrainian hookers was the last thing we needed, primarily because we were all happily married, but also because I had a strong suspicion that everything we were doing was being recorded on camera somewhere. Even the slightest ‘interaction’ with the girls – which none of us pursued or were remotely interested in – could be used against us in this deal.


Dimitri was adamant, though. ‘Which one do you want?’ he asked, as a parade of tired-looking prostitutes sashayed their way past us in a Generation Game-style conveyor belt. One of them passed me wearing only mink. I felt like shouting, ‘Cuddly toy!’ but it would have been lost in translation. Not that any of them looked particularly cuddly either. And in any case, we would have risked insulting his hospitality given that we had politely declined.


‘Fine! You girls, fuck off,’ said Dimitri. ‘Bring in some more.’


I almost lied to Dimitri and told him I was gay but, given the region’s dubious track record on equal rights, there are some out there who would consider being gay or black as the only thing worse than a football agent.


Dimitri showed us his battle scars. There were bullet wounds and stab scars on his torso, some the consequence of what he described as ‘business deals gone wrong’. Fabian had a tattoo of a dagger on his neck. Meanwhile, Milan was trying to bring negotiations to a head and all this felt an uncomfortable distraction from the fact that a deal was yet to be agreed. As the clock ticked past 2.30 a.m., he forced the issue. ‘We have to go tomorrow so we need to know if we have a deal,’ he said, instigating a marked tempo change. ‘I am a Serbian and you are a Ukrainian. We have the same values. If you shake my hand now, we have a deal.’


The conversation continued as if nothing had been said. All Dimitri had to do was shake hands . . . and he wasn’t doing it.


An hour later, Milan tried again. ‘Shake my hand,’ he said, with more conviction than before. Finally, they did. It was a poignant moment because, at last, we crossed the Rubicon.


Peter made detailed notes of the specifics. There was something comical in the sight of a middle-aged man wearing a kimono dressing gown, balancing a waitress’s notebook on his knees and trying to put together the finer points of a multi-million pound deal. It was a far cry from the Fratton Park boardroom.


Our commission was to be three million pounds. It had been a hard three days but, as we returned to the safe house with eyelids weighing heavy, the three of us were relatively happy given the proposed remuneration. Roberto brought the Ukrainians to the table, Peter had Milan, and it came together through my organisation, so we would each take one million pounds. The split was easy.


I don’t consider myself to be blessed with great talent but being an agent is about more than just representing somebody. Where I feel arguably most adept is facilitating meetings at which each party can further their interests.


Our phones had been returned to us briefly so I sent a text to Janine telling her I was OK. The relief of our impending flight home washed over me, cushioning the sharpness of the springs as I climbed into bed back at the safe house. I reached into my bag and found my iPad displaying an Internet signal. An unsecured connection nearby allowed me to access my emails for the first time. For a moment, I felt reconnected with reality.


I responded to a few, enthused by the knowledge that, in twelve hours, we would return to normality with another deal done and a healthy financial return to show for it.


* * *


I can’t sleep. Something doesn’t feel right. The best I can do is doze. Thoughts are racing through my head about whether the deal would actually be completed, whether I would stay alive. Not necessarily in that order.


Suddenly, a monstrously imposing man bursts into my room, bristling with aggression.


‘He’s dead because of you!’ he cries. ‘Give me your fucking phone, get dressed and get outside. Now!’


It felt like a dawn raid. Is there a final twist?


‘Hold on . . . I am just waking up,’ I say.


‘Give me your fucking phone!’ he repeats, with even more hostility than before.


‘I gave you it last night,’ I reply, gathering myself.


‘What else have you got?’ he says.


‘An iPad.’


‘Give me the fucking iPad!’ he says as he pulls a phone from his pocket and I realise he is in the middle of a call. It is Dimitri at the other end. The bodyguard hands me the phone.


Dimitri is apoplectic. ‘Give him all your fucking devices. My guy has been killed. They have been tracing your devices. Do what you are fucking told or we’ll fucking sort you out. I want to see you now. Now!’


A sense of helplessness has returned. I rack my brains. It must be me – I used the iPad on an unsecured network. Any of these guards could break me in two by looking at me and it seemed I had facilitated the death of one of their associates.


He lets me clean my teeth. I brush while nervously glancing at the bodyguard behind me in the mirror. Having my back to him for so long feels like asking for trouble.


Fabian re-emerges. He is blaming me. Now, more than ever, I think we are being kidnapped. We appeared to have struck a deal last night and now our lives are threatened.


We are taken to Dimitri’s office in central Odessa. I explain I emailed a couple of people back in the UK because my iPad had Internet access.


‘You could have got the guy killed,’ he says. For the first time, there is an element of doubt over my culpability. This isn’t the behaviour of somebody who is about to buy a big football club in England. So what’s going on? Is it a farce? Are we being kidnapped? Is it all an elaborate act and, if so, to what end?


We are told we have to pay the Army to get us out of the country. It costs about 40,000 Ukrainian hryvnia, which equates to 2,300 euros each. ‘Give us your credit card now because we have to organise it,’ says Dimitri. By this point, Roberto, Peter and I just want to get out by whatever means necessary. And here was an escape route, even if it seemed trap-laden.


We all hand our plastic over, simultaneously making a mental note to cancel our cards at the earliest opportunity to prevent any unauthorised activity. There is tension in the room but it is not quite as frightening as before. Nobody has pointed a gun at me; nobody has told us we can’t go home, but we are getting close to our flight time. We’re going to miss our plane. The more I say that, the more Fabian starts talking nonsense. He starts talking about the Beatles.


‘What do you think A Hard Day’s Night actually meant?’ he says.


I don’t fucking care . . . Can we go now, please? I think to myself. He doesn’t want an answer anyway because he never pauses long enough.


They don’t want us to make our plane. Eventually, the conversation peters out. There is nothing left to talk about. Our flight has gone. A bog-standard car resembling a taxi arrives, our phones are returned to us and we are told to leave.


‘We will meet you in Trafalgar Square next week,’ says Dimitri, suggesting the deal is still on. They claim to have an office there. ‘I’ll let you know which day I am coming over . . . we’ll look at the stadium and begin due diligence in the coming days.’


For the first time, no security travels with us. The traffic is terrible but we get to the airport to find there is no military assistance whatsoever. I don’t feel safe. We are told there are no flights to London or Milan, where Roberto is heading. The only flight out was to Kiev. It was still Ukraine – and in an area where trouble was flaring – but just escaping Odessa constituted progress under the circumstances.


Expecting to be fast-tracked, we mentioned Dimitri’s name to the military. They had never heard of him. We muddled through Departures and as we took off, we began to relax and thoughts once more turned to whether this deal was genuine.


Kiev airport is huge, modern and they sell sandwiches. It felt decidedly well-appointed. We flew back to London and I got home at 11 p.m. Janine was greatly relieved. We talked for two hours across the kitchen table about the whole experience but I couldn’t speak with conviction about whether we would eventually have anything to show for it. I slept very, very well.


* * *


The first few days afterwards are quite positive. There is regular email contact and things seem to be edging forward. But then communications go deathly quiet for about ten days. Roberto fills that silence by phoning a good contact he had at a reputable, high-ranking European club. He says, ‘These Ukrainian guys have got more money than God. Don’t worry about it, it’ll be fine. They just have some issues back there at the moment.’


After another few days, the silence is deafening. I phone Dimitri. ‘It’s fine,’ he growls. ‘I’ll call you tomorrow. My father has had some problems.’


A couple of emails trickle out from him the next day. One is an apology, the other nothing of any consequence and there are no more requests for due diligence, no timetable for coming to the UK.


I fear the worst. You don’t leave a deal like this hanging for two weeks. Milan kept faith because, as a Serbian, he felt some kind of empathy with the Ukrainians. He knew their mind-set better than us but, to me, it still felt all wrong.


Finally, a colleague sent me an article from a Swiss newspaper that exposed a scam in the Ukraine where football agents were brought over ostensibly to negotiate the purchase of a club and then mistreated. One agent had been killed; others had been kidnapped. Money had changed hands. We found out Dimitri’s father, who was always very influential in the background, had seemingly disappeared without trace. There were even unsubstantiated rumours that he had ended up in jail. It was all an elaborate fallacy. That was the end of that.


Looking back on it now, it remains a puzzle. I still can’t figure out the real story. They can’t have been who they claimed, yet we only parted with 2,300 euros plus a contribution towards the party before they threw in the food, drink and, er, other ‘entertainment’.


To make an extortion racket viable, surely they would need to bring agents over all the time, but we never saw anyone else there and nobody I know aside from my consultant had been there. We should have researched these people better beforehand but in fact our preliminary checks had somehow all come back positive.


I now know there was no Marble Arch office. I also found out that Odessa’s supposed contact was said to have links to the mafia – whoever they may be. That would have set alarm bells ringing from the outset and you might ask why anyone would ever countenance dealing with such unsavoury characters. But people are naïve in the extreme if they think football transactions are only conducted between upstanding businessmen with legitimate funding.


It is often a murky world . . . but not always in the way you might think.
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Deadline Day


Football is a game of fine margins. The difference between winning and losing a match can be a determined by a moment of brilliance or an individual mistake. Timing is everything.


Football is also no longer solely a sport. It is now inextricably a business and the same tight parameters exist in the boardroom; chairmen and chief executives are all defined as successes or failures depending upon brief moments in time: a risk taken, a decision made.


Everybody is looking for an angle. They’ll even go to war-torn regions to find one. People in football regularly take chances just like our Ukraine trip because the power of money is absolute: the right deal can make or break a club.


Player transfers are big business. Few managers now control a club’s transfer policy alone; the emergence of Sporting Directors, transfer committees and recruitment departments in recent years is evidence of the pivotal importance identifying and acquiring the right players has in the workings of a modern-day, top-level club. Agents therefore facilitate the most crucial element of a club’s strategy. The implementation of transfer windows for the 2002–03 season suddenly introduced a biannual finite timeframe; it instantly became a scramble to sign the best players for an appropriate price at the right time.


Sky Sports transformed this business of football into a televisual event, making a personality out of presenter Jim White and illustrated by a sea of yellow tickers, ties and ticking clocks. All the negotiation, posturing and positioning of a transfer window is distilled down into one or two days of acute pressure which often does not reflect well on anyone in football.


Deadline day itself is unnecessarily emotional. For the small agents – the ones who are waiting to pay their fuel bill for the rest of the year in one working day – God help them, because it is as unpredictable as the weather. Some agents start the day with about a dozen or so possible transactions, many of them interlinked: if one club sells a player, that same club will go for another who could then in turn release a position for a third transfer and so on. There are a variety of options when you start at 6 a.m. and they fall away one by one throughout the day. For the ones that do get traction, you have to scurry around to get the paperwork done. If you badly need a deal to go through, it is a countdown fraught with stress, tension and panic.


The following day is very depressing if things went awry because there is nothing you can do to rectify the situation. It is like taking a morning stroll into a nightclub where you made a fool of yourself the night before: you are surrounded by reminders of the mistakes you made with no recourse available. Everyone has left the party. The hangover is terrible if you have not made the one deal that could make or break your year; January is almost never as big so you might have to wait a year to atone the error, especially as it often takes the full length of a contract to get paid.


I can understand why, from the outside, people look at clubs panicking to act on deadline day and think the whole picture utterly embarrassing and avoidable. Some of those clubs will have pursued targets that haven’t come off; others hamstrung by decreasing flexibility from their banks are reliant on a chain of deals happening before the one they want to complete can go ahead. That possibility doesn’t open up until late in the window because everyone is playing chess.


An agent’s job is to make that breakthrough but sometimes neither side is willing to move while there is time to stand still; two weeks from the window closing gives everyone plenty of space to assess their options, and completing a deal early is sometimes seen as sticking on 16 when you could take another card that gets you to 21.


The summer window is complicated by the fact that a manager’s ideas are often formulated during pre-season and then the first few games dictate their actions towards the end of the window. It surprises many people outside the game but snap decisions are often taken with the season just a few games old, prior to the summer window closing. Managers are under immediate pressure and the temptation to act – knowing otherwise nothing can be done until January – is often too great.


January isn’t usually a big trading window. It is more often a tidy-up of deals that were incomplete, mismanaged or simply not possible during the summer. January can be the time when a chain of deals is finally completed – perhaps a club replaces a player sold on deadline day that left them short. Nobody wants to be left with an incomplete squad and, when a club is caught between two possible options, it has ramifications for all involved.


In 2012, Anton Ferdinand was going to QPR from West Ham. The deal broke down because the two clubs couldn’t agree a fee. Those conversations were nothing to do with us but we then got a call from QPR about Sebastien Bassong, who was surplus to requirements at Tottenham. We went in and did the deal quickly. Bassong says goodbye to his team-mates and leaves the Chigwell training ground for what he thinks is the last time.


QPR manager Harry Redknapp was one of our clients at the time but, unbelievably, he hadn’t been available for us to talk to him during that day. To compound the miscommunication, Harry tells the QPR board, unbeknown to us, he doesn’t want Bassong after all; he still wants Anton Ferdinand. But by this time, Anton is in his car driving up north. He has got as far as Northampton. QPR phone him and say, ‘Look, Harry loves you. You have one last chance to sort out a move because your replacement is on his way down here. Let’s agree some terms that work for us both.’


It is mid-afternoon, so he has time to turn the car around before the 11 p.m. deadline. QPR stall Bassong in the meantime. We should be in the loop between Harry and QPR but, to our own detriment, we aren’t. It was our own slack management – maybe we presumed that Harry would take it upon himself to keep us posted. You have to square the circle of intelligence, but we left a huge hole in the middle.


So we are in the dark and the delay on Bassong is an ominous sign. Time ticks away. The player begins to get edgy. Eventually, we get hold of Harry. He tells us he really doesn’t want Bassong. Apparently, he’s not a bad player but just the wrong fit. Almost in the same breath, Anton arrives back at Loftus Road and they complete the deal, leaving Bassong to trudge back to Spurs and say, ‘Hi. I’m not going anywhere after all.’ It was difficult for him as he had mentally moved on from Tottenham.


It raises an interesting point about the collateral damage of deadline day; the manager has to make a judgement call but Bassong had to rebuild his career on the whim of one man’s opinion. And now that Spurs didn’t want him, he had to face up to the prospect of at least four months as a bit-part player, earning the bare minimum his contract dictated while finding the motivation to continue for a manager who had such a low opinion of him that he tried to ship him out.


As an agent, you do your best to console a player and it is another side of our industry that people don’t see. Footballers are often painted as mercenaries and, while they have far greater power over their own destiny than ever before, that doesn’t prevent occasions when clubs can toy with their emotions. Italian clubs are very good at trying to wreck someone else’s deal and then nick the player on the cheap.


Take Fabio Borini’s move from Liverpool to Sunderland in 2015. A Serie A club get involved and say, ‘We really love you and want you here. What’s the price . . . ten million? No, we can’t do that. We’ll do six million.’ So they have turned the player’s head but made an uncompetitive offer. As nice as Wearside is, there are obvious attractions to living your life on the Continent and so the player hangs around thinking they may go to eight million, a figure Liverpool might take. But the Serie A club never do. They go to six-and-a-half million and hope for the best. The Italians do it time and time again. But, in the end, Sunderland offered eight million plus two million in add-ons, which was enough to render the Italians an irrelevance because they didn’t look serious by comparison.


Borini was quite happy to go to Sunderland but the Serie A club made that deal far more complicated than it needed to be. His view of life was that he didn’t want to get into the last year of his contract not playing first-team football for Liverpool and have his stock fall so far that no Premier League or major European team would consider him worth taking. He could have become a forgotten man. That is the risk, not so much at the very top, but even for a squad player at a top-six club.


Never are the stakes higher than on deadline day and we were involved in what to this day stands as the quintessential example of the dynamics involved: Andrey Arshavin’s transfer from Zenit St Petersburg to Arsenal in February 2009.


My brother Phil and Arsène Wenger had been working on this for some time but without any joy. He had an agent called Dennis Lachter. Funnily enough, Phil was playing in a local Maccabi League football team in north London with Dennis’s cousin, Joe. Through Joe, we got to Dennis and, through Dennis, we started talking with Andrey. A dialogue began in November which went on through December and into the January transfer window. Initially, the two clubs were a long way apart in their valuation. Arsenal originally offered eight million with Zenit demanding fifteen million. Zenit enquired about a player-plus-cash exchange but that discussion never got off the ground. It was about the only concession they would even hint at.


Arsenal moved a little and offered ten million. We got to mid-January and the deal had completely stalled. The problem was that Zenit is actually Vladimir Putin’s club – the Russian president supported them as a boy. Zenit’s Director General was a guy called Maxim Mitrofanov, above him was another board member and above him was the president of Gazprom, Alexey Miller. Above Miller was Putin.


We tried to move all sorts of ways around it – payment structures where money was loaded at the front end, for example. Arsenal kept trying. They went up to twelve million at the start of the last week of the window. Suddenly, the Russians claimed they required an additional payment to clear a debt Andrey had accrued from not fulfilling a contractual obligation somewhere along the line. That added a sizeable six-figure sum to the final figure but, eventually, Arsenal indicated they would absorb that payment in his image rights terms as part of any deal.


Still, the Gazprom chief dug his heels in. Everyone was stretching again and Arsenal were losing faith. I told them to keep going because the end of the window always focuses people’s minds and, at that moment, Andrey really wanted to move to London. Andrey was potentially damaged goods for Zenit, mentally, because although he loved the club, his head was now with Arsenal.


Arsène was involved at every step. Every conversation with Arsenal was based around how Arsène was feeling and things he thought they could do to bridge the gap. He offered them a game at the Emirates Cup – that’s probably worth about half a million in revenue – and Arsène was completely in control of that environment. At the time, Ivan Gazidis had just come in as chief executive and was learning the ropes. It was his first month and so I was dealing with the then Managing Director, Ken Friar, whom I love dearly and have known forever. He is a fine, upstanding gentleman and completely what you want from your favourite uncle. But he is quite old school; he would settle upon a price and not budge from it.


I made a phone call. ‘Hi, Arsène,’ I said. ‘We appear to be stuck.’


‘Yes, it is stuck. We need to try and find a way forward. Let me speak with Ken Friar,’ he said.


Of course, there was also the additional information I could provide having spoken with Andrey’s agent Dennis Lachter, which Zenit were already aware was happening.


Technically we might not have been given permission but that’s my job for a club or a player at any given time. I am the bridge the club can’t cross. In most cases of employment exchanges in any walk of life, the potential employee and prospective employer have had some sort of prior connection. If you are going to leave a place of work for another job, you either apply for a publicly advertised role or you are headhunted. There are agencies set up to conduct the latter as an intermediary and that is widely acknowledged. There has to be a person ready to break the conventional ethical boundaries of not pinching other people’s staff and actually make contact. So we sometimes facilitate that in football.


Disputes between players, agents or clubs are dealt with under the arbitration clause in the FA’s laws of the game, known as Rule K. I used to call it Rule K9 because it is a dog of a regulation.


What should happen is that Zenit talks to Arsenal directly and vice versa. Zenit will say if the player is for sale or not. If Arsenal then ask to speak to the player, Zenit should say, ‘No, you can’t, until you have done a deal with us.’ That’s what was going on but our view was that we had to talk to the player because only by doing that would he put pressure on the club to close the gap in terms of price. If it is close, there are ways we can do it without him. But when it is this large, it is basically impossible without involving the player.


This happens all the time, but everyone in football has to subscribe officially to the laws of the game, including Rule K, even though it is impossible to enforce and invalid in reality. Gary Lineker once said tapping up was like speeding – we’ve all done it even though we shouldn’t. Except, as Lineker points out, speeding is illegal under the laws of the land, tapping up is not and only an offence within the rules of football. And what an absurd rule it is.


Arsène and Arsenal played it by the book. He told me, ‘If you want to talk to the player, that is up to you.’


There was no direct contact prior to a fee being agreed. Sometimes I might phone Ken and say, ‘We’ve spoken to Andrey and . . . ’


‘I don’t want to know!’ he’d interrupt. Most other clubs would say, ‘Oh yeah, what did he say?’ But that is not how the Arsenal decision-makers do business.


Andrey quite rightly wanted to know about the tax situation. In Russia, he paid 22 per cent. We got to a stage where we were two million pounds apart and I started to think that gap was bridgeable. Phil was talking to Dennis from our Wembley office; I was speaking to Arsène. Lachter did nothing and decided what would be, would be. We had to make all the running. I think he might have had another deal with someone else which wasn’t maturing and, in his mind, this was it. He is of Israeli–Russian extraction and he knew their mind-set. They don’t negotiate. Unless Arsenal hit the fifteen-million figure, Andrey was going nowhere.


We got to 29 January and Arsenal were hinting that they might go that far but without offering anything concrete. Arsène really wanted the player and Ken Friar was unwilling to go higher. I decided to contact David Dein, the former vice-chairman of the club, with whom I always had a warm working relationship, for his assistance. David is one of the most well-connected men in football and I explained the situation to him. David told me he would speak to Alisher Usmanov, Arsenal’s second largest shareholder. Alisher is an Uzbekistan billionaire who surprisingly did not have a seat on the board despite owning 30 per cent of the club’s equity. But he had a good understanding of Zenit and Gazprom and the advice came back to tell Andrey to go and see Alexey Miller at Gazprom. Word began to circulate that Usmanov had got involved, which was softening the Russians’ position a little. That was proving useful, although I had no intention of telling Arsenal because it could have exacerbated existing tensions between Usmanov and the club’s hierarchy.


It was now 30 January and there were soft edges everywhere, so I sensed that if there was a way of making one side take a little step forward, we could open a path to an agreement. Andrey was convinced it was happening because Usmanov had got involved, so he got on a plane to Paris. He didn’t want to be seen in England in case the media picked up on it but still jumped the gun anyway and upset Zenit at a time when negotiations remained precarious. He ended up sitting in a Parisian hotel room on his own, waiting to find out what was happening.


The night passed. We were now at 31 January – in theory, this is the penultimate day of the window. However, the weather report for later that day and the following day was worrying. Snowstorms were set to engulf London overnight into deadline day. It was a snap decision and we just said, ‘Right, we have to get him out of there. The last thing we want is for this deal to fall down because we can’t get him into the country – or someone out to him – for a medical and the relevant paperwork.’


Phil had an arrangement with the Village Hotel in Elstree and we flew Andrey into Stansted on a private jet. We’d now got to thirteen-and-a-half million from Arsenal, solely from Arsène pushing the club to increase their offer. He felt relaxed about it all; the player was in the country, which shifted the balance of probability in their direction.


Andrey came to my house. I gave him one simple instruction: ‘Don’t go out. There are a lot of Arsenal supporters around here. If they see you, it will be chaos.’ Andrey nodded in recognition of the situation and returned to his hotel.


The following day – 1 February – he was photographed in every national newspaper standing outside the Elstree hotel in his bobble hat looking at the snow, texting on his mobile phone. Brilliant, I thought to myself. Now all bets are off. I was expecting a disaster but instead we caught something of a break. After consultation with the Football Association and FIFA, the Premier League announced that the transfer deadline would be pushed back until 5 p.m. on 2 February; the inclement weather had made travelling across the country difficult, meaning a delay in medicals, face-to-face talks and the physical movement of players from one club to another. That relaxed us somewhat, but Zenit still had to move from fifteen million. The extra time gave everybody a chance to pause for breath. Nothing changes overnight.


I woke up the following morning hoping for an email, a text or some indication of progress from either side. There was nothing – Arsenal were stuck, Zenit were stuck. Russia was three hours ahead of us, which condensed the time-frame still further. Mitrofanov told us there was a meeting at 3 p.m. UK time to discuss Andrey’s situation.


‘You are leaving it a bit tight,’ I said, given there were just two hours left to sort things out.


‘That is just how it is. You will have our final decision then,’ he said.


Arsenal often use outsourced medical facilities – based in Harley Street – and we took Andrey to have his medical so there wouldn’t be any hold-ups on that front. The Russians knew he was in London and probably anticipated us having got that far.


Meanwhile, I was trying to get hold of Ivan Gazidis, but his phone was engaged. Everyone else at Arsenal was saying it was his decision. I had been dealing with Ken and Arsène but Ivan is now in situ. And I know him – he asked my advice when Manchester City offered him the chief executive job two or three years previously, back when they were under Thai ownership. We told him to wait on that occasion but, when the Arsenal job came up, we advised him to take it, although, as it turned out, his mind was already made up. He still probably needed time to adjust but, as chief executive, he did not want to sit idly by while Arsenal conducted a club record deal in his first window.


The gap still feels bridgeable but nothing was happening. Yet the buzz was huge. The fact my sons were watching it unfold on TV in the room next to me while I was still negotiating was a colossal adrenalin rush.


‘Arsène Wenger is about to meet Andrey Arshavin and welcome him to Arsenal,’ blared out the TV as I sat, within earshot, with my head in my hands thinking, It’s nowhere near that close.


We tried everything; we suggested putting some of his wages into image rights, save a bit of money and put that into the deal. Alisher was talking to everyone trying to make the transfer happen. The phone was ringing relentlessly but everyone was saying the same thing: we need to find more money to get closer to Zenit’s asking price. The best Arsenal have offered totals £13.8m.


Part of me thought, What are Zenit going to do? Call him back? They have got nearly fifteen million for him anyway. But the Russians were absolutely poker-faced. They were not budging and the clock was ticking. Pavel, the administrator for Zenit, sounded frazzled on the phone every time I tried to work an angle.


We had now reached the final 40 minutes. I rang Pavel again; it was time to act. ‘The answer is yes. Let’s do the deal at fifteen million.’ I couldn’t take it any longer. I decided to offer the additional £1.2m myself to get the deal done and sort it out with Arsenal later. It was serious money to me. It wouldn’t ruin my life but it was a significant outlay. The commissions might have covered most of it but that’s not the point. I’m in this business to make money and protect my family.
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